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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
_______________________________________

LAMAR ADVERTISING OF PENN, LLC
289 Exchange Street
Buffalo, New York 14204,

SECOND AMENDED
Plaintiff, COMPLAINT

-vs- Civil Action No.: 01-CV-556A(SC)

THE TOWN OF ORCHARD PARK, NEW YORK
4295 S. Buffalo Street
Orchard Park, New York 14127,

Defendant.
_______________________________________

Plaintiff, Lamar Advertising of Penn, LLC, by its attorneys, Wilder & Linneball,

LLP, for its second amended complaint against defendant, The Town of Orchard Park,

New York, upon information and belief, alleges as follows:

PARTIES

1. Plaintiff, Lamar Advertising of Penn, LLC (“Lamar”), is a Delaware limited

liability company, and is duly authorized to conduct business in New York.  Lamar’s

principal office is located at 289 Exchange Street, Buffalo, New York 14204.

2.        Defendant, The Town of Orchard Park, New York (the “Defendant”), is a

municipal corporation located in the County of Erie, State of New York, and is duly

organized and existing under the laws of the State of New York.  Defendant’s offices are

located at 4295 S. Buffalo Street, Orchard Park, New York 14127.

JURISDICTION

3. Jurisdiction in this action is based upon 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343
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because Lamar’s claims arise under: the First, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the

United States Constitution; Article I, Section 8 of the United States Constitution (the

“Commerce Clause”); and 42 U.S.C. 1983.

VENUE

4. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), as Defendant resides within

this District and Lamar’s claims arose in the Western District of New York.

BACKGROUND

Lamar’s Business

5. Lamar is engaged in the outdoor advertising business and it is conducting

such business within the State of New York.

6. The business of outdoor advertising includes locating, erecting and leasing

outdoor signs for commercial and non-commercial advertising.

7. Lamar utilizes ground leases, easements, purchases or permissions which

authorize the erection and maintenance of outdoor advertising displays or signs,

commonly known as billboards.

8. Billboards display both commercial and non-commercial speech and copy,

which typically relate to products, activities and/or services conducted or occurring at

locations other than upon the property where the display is located.  This is often 

referred to as off-premises speech.

9. Billboards may also display speech and copy related to political,

charitable, religious and/or ideological topics, i.e., non-commercial speech.  This non-

commercial speech typically bears no particular relationship to the property where it is

displayed.  This is often referred to as off-premises non-commercial speech.  Nationally,
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between five to ten percent (5%-10%) of outdoor advertising space typically contains

such non-commercial speech.

10. Lamar intends to erect outdoor billboards within the geographical borders

of the Town of Orchard Park (the “Township”), to display a variety of commercial and

non-commercial speech and copy, as follows:

A. Phase I is for so-called “Bulletin Boards.”  Lamar seeks to

erect eight (8) Bulletin Boards, with two-sided displays at

each location (total of sixteen (16) displays), 14' x 48' in size

and in compliance with outdoor advertising industry

standards for such Bulletin Board structures.

B. Phase II is for so-called “Poster Panels.”  Lamar seeks to

erect thirty (30) Poster Panels, with two-sided displays at

each location (total of sixty (60) displays), 12' by 25' in size

and in compliance with outdoor advertising industry

standards for such Poster Panel structures.

C. Phase III is for so-called “Eight Sheets.”  Lamar seeks to

erect fifty (50) Eight Sheets, with two-sided displays at each

location (total of one hundred (100) displays), 6' by 12' in

size and in compliance with outdoor advertising industry

standards for such Eight Sheet structures.

11. In satisfaction of its Phase I goals, Lamar obtained leasehold interests or

authorizations for eight (8) proposed Bulletin Boards on properties located within the

Township.
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12. All eight (8) of Lamar’s Phase I Bulletin Boards were designed and

intended to be erected within the Township as two-sided displays at each location (total

of sixteen (16) displays), 14' by 48' in size, and in compliance with outdoor advertising

industry standards for such structures.

13. On August 2, 2001, Lamar submitted eight (8) applications for building

permits to Defendant for the eight (8) Phase I outdoor advertising structures.  Copies of

Lamar’s applications outlining the proposed locations of the Phase I outdoor advertising

structures are annexed hereto as Exhibit A.

14. On or about August 2, 2001, Defendant denied all eight (8) of Lamar’s

applications and refused to grant permission for construction of any of the outdoor

advertising structures.

15. In its denial, Defendant stated the following: “PERMIT DENIED.  MAX.

SIZE PEDISTAL [sic] SIGN IS 40 SQ. FT., 16 FT. HIGH.  NO PROVISIONS IN

ORDINANCE FOR BILLBOARD SIGNS.”  Exhibit A.

Defendant’s First and Second Ordinances

16. Defendant has a pattern and practice of violating the citizenry’s First, Fifth 

and Fourteenth Amendment rights, 28 U.S.C. 1983, the Commerce Clause and Article I,

§ 8 of the Constitution of the State of New York.

17. Prior to February 21, 2001, Defendant had enacted an ordinance which

regulated signs within the Township (the “First Ordinance”).  A copy of this Ordinance is

attached as Exhibit B.

18. The First Ordinance was unconstitutional because, among other things, it

was indistinguishable, in all material aspects, from ordinances found by the United
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States Supreme Court, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals and the Western District of

New York to violate, inter alia, the First Amendment.  

19. Upon information and belief, since 1995 or earlier, Defendant, through its

Town Board, knew that the First Ordinance was unconstitutional because, inter alia, it

violated the First Amendment.  Upon information and belief, Defendant gained this

knowledge from several sources, including Defendant’s Town Attorney.    

20. For years after 1995, Defendant refused to amend the First Ordinance and

continued to enforce the First Ordinance, although Defendant knew it was

unconstitutional and was advised by Defendant’s Town Attorney to amend the First

Ordinance.

21. By way of example, upon information and belief, before February 21,

2001, Defendant attempted to enforce the First Ordinance by removing one or more

political signs from residential properties in the Town.

22. After Defendant removed this(es) sign(s), individuals and/or entities

seeking to erect political signs within the Township or to assist those who were seeking

to erect these signs, advised Defendant that the First Ordinance was unconstitutional

because, inter alia, it prohibited all political signs. 

23.       In particular, upon information and belief, during the Fall of 2000, an

Orchard Park High School student named Christopher Sasiadek put up a sign

supporting Ralph Nader for United States President.

24.       Upon information and belief, during the Fall of 2000, Defendant, its

agents or employees told Mr. Sasiadek or his father that the sign was illegal under

Defendant's First Ordinance.
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25.       During the Fall of 2000, Mr. Sasiadek repeatedly advised Defendant at

Town Board meetings that the First Ordinance was unconstitutional because it

prohibited political signs.

26.       Upon information and belief, when Defendant failed to amend the First

Ordinance in response to his complaints, Mr. Sasiadek contacted the New York Civil

Liberties Union, Inc. (“NYCLU”).

27. Before February 21, 2001, upon information and belief, Defendant was

sued or threatened with suit, by, inter alia, Mr. Sasiadek and/or the NYCLU, because

Defendant did not remove the prohibition against political signs.  

28.       Only after the NYCLU became involved, and suit was commenced or

threatened, did Defendant agree to amend the First Ordinance to purportedly allow

political signs.

29. On or about February 21, 2001, Defendant amended its sign ordinance to

purportedly repeal the prohibition against political signs.  This amendment resulted in a

new version of the sign ordinance (the “Second Ordinance”).  A copy of the Second

Ordinance is attached hereto as Exhibit C.

30.       Notwithstanding this alleged repeal, before the February 21, 2001 Town

Board meeting, Defendant's Town Supervisor called the chairmen of the Town's four

active political parties and asked that the chairmen "come together with a unified

position that can accomplish by policy what we [Defendant] cannot accomplish by law,"

i.e., a "gentlemen's agreement" banning political signs in the Township.

31.       Defendant, its agents and employees, not only asked that the party

chairmen enter into the "gentlemen's agreement" to ban political signs, but Defendant,
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its agents and employees also agreed, on or before February 21, 2001, to “honor” the

"gentlemen's agreement" and “admonish” those who did not follow the "gentlemen's

agreement."

32.       Upon information and belief, notwithstanding the Second Ordinance and

subsequent sign ordinances, Defendant, its agents, employees and/or Town Board

members have continued to participate in, significantly encourage, maintain and/or

promote the "gentlemen's agreement" banning political signs in the Township to this

day.

33. Although Defendant amended its sign ordinance in February, 2001,

resulting in the Second Ordinance, Defendant also maintained a pattern and practice of

providing copies of the First Ordinance to individuals or entities who requested a copy of

Defendant’s current sign ordinance, including Lamar, even though Defendant knew the

First Ordinance was no longer valid and was unconstitutional.

34. Upon information and belief, Defendant continued to hand out the First

Ordinance after it was repealed, in order to lead persons and entities to believe that

political signs were not permitted in the Township and to discourage persons and

entities from erecting such signs.

35. The Second Ordinance was also unconstitutional, because, among other

things, it: purported to regulate the permissible content of signs within the Township;

preferred some non-commercial speech over other non-commercial speech; preferred

commercial speech over non-commercial speech; imposed unconstitutional taxes, fees

and burdens upon the exercise of First Amendment rights; impermissibly conditioned

the exercise of free speech on the granting of a permit in the unbridled discretion of
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Defendant’s Town Board; was unconstitutionally vague; operated as an overall scheme

to suppress speech protected by the First Amendment; and unlawfully discriminated

against and among different categories of commercial and non-commercial speech.

36. On August 6, 2001, following the denial of its applications for sign permits,

Lamar commenced this action seeking declaratory and injunctive relief, together with

costs and attorney’s fees, based upon the facial unconstitutionality of the First and

Second Ordinances.  A copy of Lamar’s complaint is attached as Exhibit D.

37. On or about December 17, 2001, Defendant answered the complaint. 

Defendant later served an amended answer on or about January 4, 2002.  Copies of

Defendant’s answer and amended answer are attached collectively as Exhibit E.

38. On January 28, 2002, Lamar filed a motion for summary judgment,

preliminary and permanent injunctive relief.

Defendant’s Third Ordinance

39. On or about February 20, 2002, following Lamar’s filing of its motion for

summary judgment, preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, Defendant amended

the Second Ordinance in an effort to correct some, but not all, of its constitutional

infirmities (the “Third Ordinance”).  A copy of the amendments resulting in the Third

Ordinance is attached hereto as Exhibit F.

40. Defendant’s Third Ordinance prohibited all billboards within the Township,

and defined billboards as: “A sign which directs attention to a business, commodity,

service, entertainment or attraction sold, offered, or existing elsewhere than upon the

same premises where such sign is displayed or only incidentally sold, offered, or

existing upon such premises.”  Exhibit F, § 144-5.  In other words, the Third Ordinance
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prohibited all off-premises commercial speech.

41. The Third Ordinance also added a new section, 144-33(B), which reads: 

“Notwithstanding any other provision contained herein to the contrary, non-commercial

message [sic] may be contained on any authorized sign.”  Exhibit F, § 144-33(B).

Disposition of Lamar’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Injunctive Relief

42. On or about February 20, 2002, the district court in this matter (Arcara, J.)

denied Lamar’s motion for summary judgment and injunctive relief.

43. Lamar appealed the district court’s determination to the United States

Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit.

44. On or about February 2, 2004, the Second Circuit vacated in part, affirmed

in part, and remanded the matter to the district court for further consideration.  The

Second Circuit held, inter alia, that Lamar should be allowed to amend its Complaint to

challenge the current sign ordinance, including Defendant’s most recent amendments.

The Fourth Ordinance

45. Following remand from the Second Circuit, on or about April 7, 2004,

Defendant amended its sign ordinance again (the “Fourth Ordinance”).  A copy of the

amendments resulting in the Fourth Ordinance is attached hereto as Exhibit G.  Taken

together, the Second Ordinance (Exhibit C), plus the two subsequent amendments

made by Defendant’s Town Board (Exhibits F and G), comprise the Fourth Ordinance

(identified below simply as Exhibit G).

The Fifth Ordinance

46.       On or about February 1, 2006, Defendant amended its sign ordinance

again (the "Fifth Ordinance").  A copy of the amendments resulting in the Fifth
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Ordinance is attached hereto as Exhibit H.  Taken together, the Second Ordinance

(Exhibit C), plus the three subsequent amendments made by Defendant's Town Board

(Exhibits F, G and H), compromise the Fifth Ordinance (identified below simply as

Exhibit H).

47.       As a result of Defendant's most recent amendment, Defendant has had in

place five different versions of its sign ordinance in the last five years.

48. Lamar seeks declaratory and injunctive relief, together with costs,

attorney’s fees, and Lamar’s past and future lost profits due to lost sign rental revenue,

based upon the facial unconstitutionality of the Fifth Ordinance and based on the Fifth

Ordinance as applied by Defendant.

49. The Fifth Ordinance is an impermissible infringement upon the First, Fifth

and Fourteenth Amendment rights, under the United States Constitution, and upon the

rights assured under Article I, § 8 of the Constitution of the State of New York, of Lamar

and its clients (advertisers and not-for-profit entities who use space on Lamar’s outdoor

advertising signs).  

50. The Fifth Ordinance and Defendant’s application of the Fifth Ordinance

create an impermissible, unconstitutional and illegal chilling effect upon the exercise of

free speech by Lamar, its clients and persons or entities who would otherwise sell or

lease property to Lamar for the erection of outdoor advertising signs.  

FIRST CLAIM

51. Lamar hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained

in paragraphs “1” through “50” above as if fully set forth herein.

52. Section 144-36(A)(8) of the Fifth Ordinance lists “billboards” among the
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group of “Prohibited Signs” within the Township.  Exhibit H, § 144-36(A)(8).

53. Section 144-5 of the Fifth Ordinance defines a “billboard” as: “[a] sign

which directs attention to a business, commodity, service, entertainment or attraction

sold, offered, or existing elsewhere than upon the same premises where such sign is

displayed or only incidentally sold, offered, or existing upon such premises.”  Exhibit H,

§ 144-5.

54. In order to determine whether a particular sign falls within the definition of

the term “billboard,” as defined by Section 144-5 of the Fifth Ordinance, Defendant (and

its agents) must review the content or message of the sign.

55. Other sections of the Fifth Ordinance, and the Fifth Ordinance’s overall

scheme, require Defendant and its agents to review the content or message of a

proposed sign to determine whether or not the proposed sign is permitted in the

Township.

56. The Fifth Ordinance thereby constitutes an impermissible, content-based

restriction of the rights of Lamar and its clients, to free speech, free press and free

expression by unlawfully favoring certain commercial speech over other commercial

speech, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, the First, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to

the United States Constitution, and Article I, § 8 of the Constitution of the State of New

York.

57. Based on these violations, Lamar seeks a judgment declaring the Fifth

Ordinance unconstitutional, a permanent injunction enjoining enforcement of the Fifth

Ordinance, any amounts to which Lamar is entitled pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983,

including attorney’s fees and costs, and Lamar’s past and future lost profits from lost
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sign rental revenue.

58. Lamar also seeks a preliminary injunction during the pendency of this

action, since it is threatened with immediate and irreparable harm and has no adequate

remedy at law based upon these constitutional violations.

SECOND CLAIM

59. Lamar hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained

in paragraphs “1” through “58” above as if fully set forth herein.

60. By prohibiting all billboards (as that term is defined) within the Township,

the Fifth Ordinance expressly prohibits any sign “which directs attention to a business,

commodity, service, entertainment or attraction sold, offered, or existing” outside of the

Township.

61. Consequently, all of Lamar’s out-of-state and foreign clients wishing to

engage in commercial speech within the Township regarding “a business, commodity,

service, entertainment or attraction sold, offered, or existing” outside the Township are

prohibited from doing so.

62. The Fifth Ordinance thereby favors local businesses engaging in

commercial speech over out-of-state or foreign businesses seeking to engage in

commercial speech within the Township.

63. The Fifth Ordinance also permits the erection of “Off-Premises

Identification Signs” pursuant to Section 144-38(l), which permits certain off-premise

commercial speech by local businesses, while prohibiting all off-premise commercial

speech for non-local, out-of-state and foreign businesses.  Exhibit H, § 144-38(l).  By

reason of these sections, other sections in the Fifth Ordinance, and the Fifth
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Ordinance’s overall scheme, the Fifth Ordinance favors certain off-premise commercial

speech over other off-premise commercial speech.

64. This distinction favoring local businesses over out-of-state or foreign

businesses constitutes a violation of the Commerce Clause of the United States

Constitution, by impermissibly attempting to regulate commerce among states and with

foreign nations, which is reserved to the United States Congress under Article I, Section

8, Clause 3 of the United States Constitution.

65. Based on these violations, Lamar seeks a judgment declaring the Fifth

Ordinance unconstitutional, a permanent injunction enjoining enforcement of the Fifth

Ordinance, any amounts to which Lamar is entitled pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983,

including attorney’s fees and costs, and Lamar’s past and future lost profits from lost

sign rental revenue.

66. Lamar also seeks a preliminary injunction during the pendency of this

action, since it is threatened with immediate and irreparable harm and has no adequate

remedy at law based upon these constitutional violations.

THIRD CLAIM

67. Lamar hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained

in paragraphs “1” through “66” above as if fully set forth herein.

68. On-premises commercial speech is allowed everywhere in the Township

under the Fifth Ordinance.

69. Notwithstanding the prohibition against billboards within the Township, the

Fifth Ordinance purports to allow that a “non-commercial message may be contained on

any authorized sign.”  Exhibit H, § 144-33(B).
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70. However, the Fifth Ordinance contains varying size restrictions for most

signs within the Township, dependent upon, inter alia, the type of sign sought to be

erected and the content of the sign’s message and/or the identity of the speaker.  

71. Certain other types of signs have no size restrictions at all, and could be

potentially unlimited in size based on, inter alia, the type of sign, the content of the sign

or the identity of the speaker.

72. Any person seeking to “erect, alter, construct, relocate or cause to be

erected, altered, constructed or relocated any sign with a surface area exceeding four

square feet” within the Township must first obtain a permit.  Exhibit H, § 144-34(A).

73. Certain non-commercial signs, including but not limited to, not-for-profit

service organization signs, are allowed only in the unbridled discretion of Defendant’s

Town Board, Planning Board or Zoning Officer.  Exhibit H.

74. Given the prohibition against all billboards and off-site commercial speech,

with the varying size restrictions contained therein, the permit requirement for any sign

exceeding four square feet, the approval process and other provisions in the Fifth

Ordinance, the Fifth Ordinance, when taken as a whole, creates an overall scheme

which effectively prohibits all off-site, non-commercial speech within the Township.

75. For various reasons, including but not limited to those reasons given

above, the Fifth Ordinance impermissibly favors commercial speech over non-

commercial speech in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, First, Fifth and Fourteenth

Amendments to the United States Constitution, and Article I, § 8 of the Constitution of

the State of New York.

76. The Fifth Ordinance also exempts certain categories of signs from the



15

requirement of filing a permit based on the content of the sign or the identity of the

speaker.  Exhibit H.

77. For various reasons, including but not limited to those given above, the

Fifth Ordinance thereby further impermissibly discriminates between certain commercial

speech over other commercial speech, and certain non-commercial speech over other

non-commercial speech.

78. Based on these violations, Lamar seeks a judgment declaring the Fifth

Ordinance unconstitutional, a permanent injunction enjoining enforcement of the Fifth

Ordinance, any amounts to which Lamar is entitled pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983,

including attorney’s fees and costs, and Lamar’s past and future lost profits from lost

sign rental revenue.

79. Lamar also seeks a preliminary injunction during the pendency of this

action, since it is threatened with immediate and irreparable harm and has no adequate

remedy at law based upon these constitutional violations.

FOURTH CLAIM

80. Lamar hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained

in paragraphs “1” through “79” above as if fully set forth herein.

81. Section 144-35(H) of the Fifth Ordinance provides: “[n]o marquees shall

be constructed or erected except upon approval of the Town Board upon

recommendation of the Planning Board.”  Exhibit H, § 144-35(H).

82. Section 144-35(I) of the Fifth Ordinance provides: “Special time and

temperature signs with or without electrical lettering, special clock signs and other

special signs of similar nature may be erected upon approval of the Zoning Officer upon
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written application providing the information required by § 144-34(B) of this chapter.” 

Exhibit H, § 144-35(I).

83. Section 144-36(A)(8) of the Fifth Ordinance prohibits all billboards “except

that the Town may establish off-premises identification signs for businesses, pursuant to

§144-38(I).”  Exhibit H, § 144-36(A)(8).

84. Section 144-40(A) of the Fifth Ordinance provides: “No notice shall be

posted in the Town of Orchard Park except on bulletin boards maintained by the town or

other government authority.”  Exhibit H, § 144-40(A).

85. Section 144-40(C) of the Fifth Ordinance provides, in relevant part: "The

Zoning Officer shall approve and application for temporary signs if the applicant

demonstrates" various elements.  Exhibit H, § 144-40(C).

86. Service organization signs “may be issued upon written application to the

Zoning Officer.”  Exhibit H § 144-35(J).

87. These sections of the Fifth Ordinance, among others, including but not

limited to §§ 144-39, 144-40(D), 144-38(H), 144-34(B), and 144-35(E), vest with

Defendant's Town Board, Planning Board and/or Zoning Officer unbridled discretion in

determining whether certain signs, of the Defendant’s choosing, will be permitted to be

displayed within the Township.

88. This discretion constitutes a violation of the rights of Lamar and its clients

to free speech, free press, free expression and due process rights under the First, Fifth

and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States constitution, Article I, § 8 of the

Constitution of the State of New York, as well as a violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

89. Based on these violations, Lamar seeks a judgment declaring the Fifth
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Ordinance unconstitutional, a permanent injunction enjoining enforcement of the Fifth

Ordinance, any amounts to which Lamar is entitled pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983,

including attorney’s fees and costs, and Lamar’s past and future lost profits from lost

sign rental revenue.

90. Lamar also seeks a preliminary injunction during the pendency of this

action, since it is threatened with immediate and irreparable harm and have no

adequate remedy at law based upon these constitutional violations.

FIFTH CLAIM

91. Lamar hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained

in paragraphs “1” through “90” above as if fully set forth herein.

92. The Fifth Ordinance includes a “Schedule of Fees” for all signs, which

requires the payment of Twenty Dollars ($20).  Exhibit H. 

93. These fees charged under the Fifth Ordinance to Lamar and others

exceed the cost of administering and enforcing the Fifth Ordinance, and represent an

unconstitutional tax upon the rights of Lamar, its clients and other persons, to exercise

their First Amendment rights and their rights under Article I, § 8 of the Constitution of the

State of New York.

94. Section 144-34(A) of the Fifth Ordinance provides: “Signs shall be

designed and constructed by a professional or commercial sign maker.”  Exhibit H, §

144-34(A).

95. In addition to its vagueness, Section 144-34(A) of the Fifth Ordinance

requires a commercial or non-commercial speaker to pay to have their sign made by a

“professional or commercial sign maker” before they are allowed to speak.
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96. This requirement represents an unconstitutional tax and/or burden upon

Lamar’s, its client’s and other’s exercise of their rights of free speech, free press and

free expression, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, the First, Fifth and Fourteenth

Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 8 of the New York State

Constitution.

97. Based on these violations and other requirements under the Fifth

Ordinance, Lamar seeks a judgment declaring the Fifth Ordinance unconstitutional, a

permanent injunction enjoining enforcement of the Fifth Ordinance, any amounts to

which Lamar is entitled pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, including attorney’s fees and

costs, and Lamar’s past and future lost profits from lost sign rental revenue.

98. Lamar also seeks a preliminary injunction during the pendency of this

action, since it is threatened with immediate and irreparable harm and has no adequate

remedy at law based upon these constitutional violations.

SIXTH CLAIM

99. Lamar hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained

in paragraphs “1” through “98” above as if fully set forth herein.

100. The Fifth Ordinance is impermissibly vague in that, among other things,

several terms are undefined and/or the definitions contained in § 144-5 and/or other

provisions in the Fifth Ordinance are vague.  Because of these infirmities and others in

the Fifth Ordinance, the Fifth Ordinance fails to give proper notice of the speech and

conduct which are prohibited.  See, inter alia, Exhibit H, §§ 144-5, 144-35(E), 144-

34(B), 144-36(A)(8), 144-35(F), 144-35(H), 144-35(J), 144-39, 144-36(A)(6), 144-

36(A)(7).
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101. As a result, the Fifth Ordinance denies Lamar and its clients their

procedural due process rights and infringes upon their rights of free speech, free press

and free expression, pursuant to the First, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the

United States Constitution and Article I, § 8 of the Constitution of the State of New York.

102. Based on these violations, Lamar seeks a judgment declaring the Fifth

Ordinance unconstitutional, a permanent injunction enjoining enforcement of the Fifth

Ordinance, any amounts to which Lamar is entitled pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983,

including attorney’s fees and costs, and Lamar’s past and future lost profits from lost

sign rental revenue.

103. Lamar also seeks a preliminary injunction during the pendency of this

action, since it is threatened with immediate and irreparable harm and has no adequate

remedy at law based upon these constitutional violations.

SEVENTH CLAIM

104. Lamar hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained

in paragraphs “1” through “103” above as if fully set forth herein.

105. The Fifth Ordinance, among other things, includes § 144-33, which was

added to the Third Ordinance as a part of the amendments to the Second Ordinance,

and altered in the Fifth Ordinance as part of the amendments to the Fourth Ordinance.

106. Section 144-33 provides:

“§ 144-33.  Regulation of Signs; Legislative Intent.

A. The purpose of the regulations set forth in §§ 144-33 through 144-

43 of this chapter (and, as applicable, the definitions set forth in §

144-5B of this chapter) is to regulate existing and proposed signs in
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order to:

1. Protect the safety and welfare of the public;

2. Insure the presence of only well-maintained and

attractive sign displays within the community;

3. Preserve the aesthetic value of the property in the

Town of Orchard Park;

4. Enhance and protect the physical appearance and 

environment of the Town of Orchard Park;

5. Preserve the scenic and natural beauty of the Town of

Orchard Park;

6. Provide for a more enjoyable and pleasing

environment;

7. Reduce sign and advertising distraction and

obstructions that may contribute to traffic, congestion

and/or accidents, while permitting adequate business

identification, advertising and communication and

non-commercial communication;

8. Reduce hazards that may be caused by signs

overhanging or projecting over public rights-of-way; 

9. Reduce hazards to bicyclists and pedestrians that

may be caused from signs being placed on or around

sidewalks or streets; and 

10. Allow for traffic control devices consistent with
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national and state standards and whose purpose is to

promote highway safety and efficiency by providing

for the orderly movement of road users on streets and

highways, and that notify road users of regulations

and provide warning and guidance needed for the

safe, uniform and efficient operation of all elements of

the traffic stream.”

Exhibit H, § 144-33.

107. Despite the language of the “Legislative Intent” section of the Fifth

Ordinance, the mere insertion of this language and the purported legislative findings,

without more, constitute insufficient justification for the speech restrictions enacted.

108. Defendant failed to develop an adequate record to support the speech

restrictions, including but not limited to, the outright prohibition against billboards

contained in the Fifth Ordinance and its predecessor.  Therefore, Defendant’s actions

constitute a violation of Lamar’s and its clients’ due process, free speech, free press

and free expression rights under the First, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the

United States Constitution, Article I, § 8 of the Constitution of the State of New York,

and a civil rights violation under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

109. Based on these violations, Lamar seeks a judgment declaring the Fifth

Ordinance unconstitutional, a permanent injunction enjoining enforcement of the Fifth

Ordinance, any amounts to which Lamar is entitled pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983,

including attorney’s fees and costs, and Lamar’s past and future lost profits from lost

sign rental revenue.
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110. Lamar also seeks a preliminary injunction during the pendency of this

action, since it is threatened with immediate and irreparable harm and has no adequate

remedy at law based upon these constitutional violations.

EIGHTH CLAIM

111. Lamar hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained

in paragraphs “1” through “110” above as if fully set forth herein.

112. Prior to the filing of Lamar’s applications for sign permits, referenced

above, and the commencement of this action, Defendant was advised by its attorney(s)

and others that the Second Ordinance and its predecessors were unconstitutional.

113. Notwithstanding this advice, Defendant affirmatively chose not to amend

the Second Ordinance and its predecessors to correct the constitutional infirmities.

114. Upon information and belief, Defendant has been sued or was threatened

with suit, by, inter alia, Mr. Sasiadek and/or the NYCLU previously over a prior

prohibition against political signs contained in the First Ordinance or its predecessor. 

On or about February 21, 2001, after that suit was commenced or threat of suit was

conveyed to Defendant, Defendant amended its then-applicable sign ordinance to

purportedly repeal the prohibition against political signs.

115. However, before, during, and even after the repeal of the section of the

First Ordinance prohibiting political signs, Defendant and its representatives or agents

significantly encouraged, initiated, maintained, promoted, and/or participated in, and

continue to significantly encourage, maintain, promote and participate in, a so-called

“gentlemen’s agreement” which effectively left and leaves intact the prohibition against

political signs within the Township.
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116. Defendant has further instructed, directed and/or allowed its agents to

present to citizens requesting copies of the applicable sign ordinance out-of-date copies

of the same in an effort to frustrate the posting of signs within the Township.

117. Defendant has purposefully employed a strategy of refusing to correct

unconstitutional aspects of its various sign ordinances, despite legal counsel to do so,

until such time as no other options are available, such as when sued or threatened with

suit, or has employed alternative strategies to accomplish the same result.

118. Based on, inter alia, the foregoing, Defendant has engaged in a pattern

and practice of denying its citizens their constitutionally protected rights of free speech,

free press, free expression and due process, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, the First,

Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and Article I, § 8 of

the Constitution of the State of New York.

119. Based on these violations, Lamar seeks a judgment declaring the Fifth

Ordinance unconstitutional, a permanent injunction enjoining enforcement of the Fifth

Ordinance, any amounts to which Lamar is entitled pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983,

including attorney’s fees and costs, and Lamar’s past and future lost profits from sign

rental revenue.

120. Lamar also seeks a preliminary injunction during the pendency of this

action, since it is threatened with immediate and irreparable harm and has no adequate

remedy at law based upon these constitutional violations.

NINTH CLAIM

121. Lamar hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained

in paragraphs “1” through “120” above as if fully set forth herein.
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122. Before, at the time of and after the submission of its applications for sign

permits to Defendant, Lamar detrimentally relied upon the absence of a constitutional

sign ordinance, by, inter alia, spending significant time and effort obtaining leases of

land on which to erect signs. 

123. Defendant denied and has continued to deny Lamar’s requested permits,

notwithstanding the unconstitutional sign ordinance in effect at the time Lamar

submitted its application for sign permits on August 2, 2001.

124. Defendant’s subsequent revisions of its sign ordinance following Lamar's

submission of its applications on August 2, 2001 cannot be applied retroactively to

Lamar’s applications. 

125. Lamar’s submission of its applications for sign permits on August 2, 2001

resulted in Lamar obtaining vested rights in those applications as of the date of their

submission.

126. Since Defendant’s then-applicable sign ordinance was unconstitutional,

Lamar is entitled to receive permits for the applications it submitted on August 2, 2001.

127. In detrimental reliance on the unconstitutionality of Defendant's sign

ordinance, Lamar has therefore suffered damages from the date of its submission to the

present, including, but not limited to, lost profits from lost sign rental revenue.

128. Lamar continues to suffer monetary and other damages, including lost

business opportunity.

129. Based on these violations, Lamar seeks a judgment declaring the Fifth

Ordinance unconstitutional, a permanent injunction enjoining enforcement of the Fifth

Ordinance, any amounts to which Lamar is entitled pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983,
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including attorney’s fees and costs, and Lamar’s past and future lost profits from lost

sign rental revenue.

130. Lamar also seeks a preliminary injunction during the pendency of this

action, since it is threatened with immediate and irreparable harm and has no adequate

remedy at law based upon these constitutional violations.

TENTH CLAIM

131. Lamar hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained

in paragraphs “1” through “130” above.

132. The Fifth Ordinance and Defendant’s actions constitute an overall scheme

to suppress speech protected by the First Amendment of the United States Constitution

and Article I, § 8 of the Constitution of the State of New York.

133. This overall scheme is not designed to serve a substantial government

interest and unreasonably limits Lamar and its clients alternative avenues of

communication.

134. This overall scheme unlawfully discriminates against and among different

categories of speech.

135.  Based on these violations, Lamar seeks a judgment declaring the Fifth

Ordinance unconstitutional, a permanent injunction enjoining enforcement of the Fifth

Ordinance, any amounts to which Lamar is entitled pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983,

including attorney’s fees and costs, and Lamar’s past and future lost profits from sign

rental revenue.

136. Lamar also seeks a preliminary injunction during the pendency of this

action, since it is threatened with immediate and irreparable harm and has no adequate



26

remedy at law based upon these constitutional violations.

ELEVENTH CLAIM

137.      Lamar hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained

in paragraphs "1" through "136" above.

138.       Defendant has violated the rights of Lamar and its clients to due process

and equal protection of the laws guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment of the

United States Constitution by illegally and arbitrarily not issuing permits for Lamar's

signs.

139.    Upon information and belief, Lamar and its clients have been treated

differently than similarly situated persons or entities, in order to punish the exercise of

Lamar’s and its clients’ constitutional rights due to Defendant’s malicious bad faith to

injure Lamar and/or its clients.

140.       Further, upon information and belief, Defendant has allowed similarly

situated persons or entities to erect similar signs.

141.       As a result of Defendant's illegal and unconstitutional conduct, Lamar

has suffered damages and will suffer future damages, including Lamar’s lost revenue

and attorneys' fees.

WHEREFORE, Lamar demands that:

A. The Fifth Ordinance, to the extent it bears upon the erection

or installation of outdoor signs, be enjoined in its entirety

during the pendency of this action; that Lamar be allowed to

immediately erect the outdoor advertising signs in the forms

and locations identified in Exhibit A; and that Defendant be
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ordered not to interfere, in any manner, with Lamar’s

erection and placement of said outdoor advertising signs;

B. The Fifth Ordinance be permanently enjoined in its entirety

(as referenced above); that Lamar be allowed to erect the

outdoor advertising signs in the forms and the locations

identified in Exhibit A; that Defendant be ordered not to

interfere, in any manner, with Lamar’s erection and

placement of said outdoor advertising signs; and that

Defendant be ordered to issue any permits (if necessary) to

allow the placement of said signs (as referenced above);

C. The costs of this action be taxed against Defendant;

D. The reasonable attorney’s fees and damages including

Lamar’s past and future lost profits from lost sign rental

revenue and interest, be awarded to Lamar against

Defendant, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and other

applicable laws; 

E. Damages be awarded to Lamar in the amount of Lamar’s

past and future lost profits from lost sign rental revenue and

interest; and

E. Such other and further relief as the Court deems just and

proper.
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DATED: Buffalo, New York
May 19, 2006

WILDER & LINNEBALL, LLP

By:            /s/ J. Joseph Wilder            
J. Joseph Wilder
Laura A. Linneball

Attorneys for Plaintiff
Lamar Advertising of Penn, LLC
320 Brisbane Building
403 Main at Court Street
Buffalo, New York 14203
Telephone No.: (716) 853-6001
jwilder@wilderandlinneball.com
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